## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC06-1800

WILLIE EARL LUTON,
Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender

ANTHONY C. MUSTO Special Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 207535 P. O. Box 2956 Hallandale Beach, FL 33008-2956 954-336-8575

#

### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Willie Earl Luton was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant on appeal. Respondent State of Florida was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee on appeal. The parties will be referred to in this brief as "Mr. Luton" and "the state." The symbol "R" will constitute a reference to the record on appeal. The symbol "SR" will constitute a reference to the supplemental record on appeal. The symbol "SR2" will constitute a reference to the second supplemental record on appeal. The symbol "SR2" will constitute a reference to the transcript of trial proceedings.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Pursuant to a jury trial (T 1-368), Mr. Luton was convicted in the Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida of aggravated battery (T 364; R 85) and attempted robbery while carrying or possessing a deadly weapon (T 365; R 86).

While his appeal was pending in the Third District Court of Appeal, Mr. Luton filed a motion to correct sentencing error in the trial court (SR2 1-3). The motion asserted that his habitual violent felony offender sentence was unlawful under the dictates of Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296 (2004), which was decided while the appeal was pending, in that there had been no jury determination that the statutory requirements for such

sentencing had been met (SR2 2-3). The state filed a response, which argued only that the sentence was not illegal, not that the issue could not properly be raised in a motion to correct sentencing error (SR2 5-6). The trial court denied the motion (SR2 7).

Mr. Luton then filed an amended initial brief<sup>2</sup> in the district court in which he raised, among other claims, the Blakely issue, asserting that the trial court erred in sentencing him and in denying his motion to correct sentencing error. Amended Initial Brief of Appellant, p. ii, 39, 42. The state filed an answer brief in which it addressed only the merits of Mr. Luton's claim. Brief of Appellee, p. 35. It specifically rephrased Mr. Luton's point in a manner that stated the issue solely as one dealing with the denial of the motion to correct sentencing error. Brief of Appellee, p. i, 35. It did not in any respect raise any claim regarding preservation, nor did it in any way argue, suggest, or even imply that Mr. Luton's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Luton did not stipulate to the existence of the relevant factors, so this determination was made after a hearing at which the state presented evidence (R 145-185).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The day after Mr. Luton's initial brief was filed, *Blakely* was decided. Two days later, Mr. Luton filed a motion to withdraw his brief in order to file a motion to correct sentencing error, or, alternatively, to allow relinquishment of jurisdiction. In a response to Mr. Luton's motion, the state objected solely on the ground that the motion to correct sentencing error would be without merit substantively. It in no way suggested that the procedure proposed by Mr. Luton was improper. The district court granted Mr. Luton's motion and allowed him to file an amended or supplemental brief within 30 days.

motion to correct sentencing error was improper, untimely, or in any way deficient.

Addressing the *Blakely* issue in an initial opinion, the district court stated:

First, the defendant made no objection in the trial court that the jury, rather than the judge, must determine whether the defendant qualified as a HVFO. Since there was no timely objection to the trial court sitting as the trier of fact on the habitualization issue, the point is not properly preserved for appellate review. See McGregor v. State, 789 So. 2d 976, 977 (Fla. 2001).[3]

Luton v. State, 934 So. 2d 7, 9 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006).

Mr. Luton filed a motion for rehearing or clarification in which he asserted that the issue had been preserved by the motion to correct sentencing error. In a response, the state maintained that Mr. Luton's motion to correct sentencing error had been untimely, but did not argue that the issue was one which could not be raised in such a motion.

In a second opinion granting clarification and denying rehearing, the district court rejected Mr. Luton's preservation argument, stating, 934 So. 2d at 10:

We adhere to the view that the defendant did not timely raise this issue below. If a defendant believes that he is entitled to a jury trial on the question whether he qualifies for habitualization, logically he must raise that issue before, not after, the sentencing proceeding. The defendant neither requested a jury nor objected to the trial judge

3

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The district court went on to also reject Mr. Luton's argument on the merits. 934 So. 2d at 9-10.

sitting as the trier of fact for purposes of habitual offender sentencing.

The defendant may be arguing that he could not have made a Blakely argument at the time of his sentencing because Blakely had not been decided at that time. The Blakely decision was announced after this appeal had commenced. That fact makes no To raise the issue timely, and thus difference. preserve the point for appellate review, the defendant needed to request a jury trial on sentencing, object to the trial judge sitting as the trier of fact, prior to the sentencing hearing. As stated in an analogous case, "To benefit from the change in law, the defendant must have timely objected at trial if an objection was required to preserve the issue for appellate review." See Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1066 (Fla. 1992) (citation omitted).

Since the point was not timely raised in the trial court, it is not properly preserved for appellate review. See § 924.051(1)(b), (3), Fla. Stat. ...

934 So. 2d at 10.

The present proceeding follows.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court has consistently and repeatedly indicated that a primary purpose of a motion to correct sentencing error is to allow a defendant to preserve a sentencing issue, and it has made clear that the rule authorizing such motions applies to all sentencing errors and can be used to correct any type of sentencing error. Thus, the decision under review, which requires defendants who wish to raise claims that they were entitled to have juries determine whether the factors necessary for habitual violent offender sentencing were shown, is inconsistent with binding precedent from this court.

Moreover, carving out an exception for one type of issue by caselaw would be terribly unfair. The bar has accepted and relied upon the system established by this court. Trial lawyers understandably approach cases with the assumption that they will not have to preserve sentencing errors and appellate attorneys accept the responsibility for asserting such claims. Indeed, this court envisioned exactly such a division of responsibility. To determine by a decision in one particular appeal that this burden should be returned to trial attorneys for one particular type of error is to leave defendants, such as Mr. Luton, whose attorneys relied on the plain wording of the rule, which includes no exceptions, and the indications by this court, which indicate that there are none, with no remedies.

It should also be realized that the approach taken by the Third District in the present case is inconsistent with that taken by the other district courts of appeal in cases involving claims similar to that raised by Mr. Luton and also inconsistent with prior Third District decisions as well. It additionally defies logic to impose a stricter preservation requirement on an issue involving the fundamental right to trial by jury than exists with regards to less significant matters.

As to the merits of Mr. Luton's claim, the decision in Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296 (200\$), makes it clear that a habitual violent felony offender sentence may be imposed only

when a jury finds that the statutory requirements for such sentencing, other than the fact of the necessary prior conviction, exist. Here, those requirements, which consist of the lack of a pardon, the fact that the sentence has not been set aside, and the fact that the offense for which the sentence is being imposed occurred within the time frame set forth, were found to exist by the trial court, not the jury. Therefore, the trial court erred in imposing the sentence in the present case and in denying Mr. Luton's motion to correct sentencing error.

While Mr. Luton contends that this conclusion is mandated as to each of the above sentencing factors, he submits that it is particularly compelled with regard to time frame for the commission of an offense for which sentence is being imposed, here the period of five years from a defendant's last conviction or release from custody. It is a factor that hinges on the offense for which a defendant is being sentenced, not one that is already in place prior to the commission of that offense. It is therefore a factor which is within a defendant's control. Choosing to commit a crime on a certain date is no different than choosing to do so with a gun or under other circumstances which could lead to an enhanced sentence. The other factors all at least relate solely to the prior offense. Thus, while Mr. Luton asserts because they are elements over and above the mere fact of the prior conviction, he had a right under Blakely to

have the jury determine whether they were shown, he further submits that an even stronger rationale exists for such a conclusion with regard to the necessary timeframe.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING, DESPITE THE FACT THAT MR. LUTON ASSERTED IN A MOTION TO CORRECT SENTENCING ERROR HIS CLAIM THAT THE DECISION IN BLAKELY V. WASHINGTON, 542 U.S. 296 (2004) REQUIRED A JURY TO FIND THE EXISTENCE OF THE NECESSARY FACTORS FOR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCING, THAT THE ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED DUE TO THE FACT THAT MR. LUTON DID NOT RAISE IT PRIOR TO HIS SENTENCING HEARING.

In Amendments to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.020(g) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, 675 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 1996) [Amendments I], this court created a procedural mechanism specifically designed to allow persons who have been convicted of criminal offenses to assert claims of sentencing errors.

Specifically, this court adopted a new version of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(b), which authorized such defendants to file motions to correct sentencing errors within 10 days of rendition of sentence. 675 So. 2d at 1375. In doing so, this court stated, "The purpose of these amendments is to ensure that a defendant will have the opportunity to raise sentencing errors on appeal." Id. This court's statement was entirely consistent with the Commentary to the rule, which stated, "Subdivision (b) was added and existing subdivision (b) was renumbered as

subdivision (c) in order to authorize the filing of a motion to correct a sentence or order of probation, thereby providing a vehicle to correct sentencing errors in the trial court and to preserve the issue should the motion be denied." Id. Shortly thereafter, the time period for filing the motion was lengthened to 30 days. Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 685 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1996) [Amendments II].

In Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So. 2d 1103, 1105 (Fla. 1996) [Amendments III], this court reiterated the purpose behind the creation of motions to correct sentencing errors, stating, "Because many sentencing errors are not immediately apparent at sentencing, we felt that this rule would provide an avenue to preserve sentencing errors and thereby appeal them."

Subsequently, this court "significantly expand[ed]," the period in which a motion to correct a sentencing error can be filed in the trial court, Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) and 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, and 9.600, 761 So. 2d 1015, 1018 (Fla. 1999) [Amendments IV], creating Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(b)(2), which authorizes such motions while appeals are pending. 761 So. 2d at 1022.

In doing so, this court once again revisited the reasons why it approved the rule establishing motions to correct

sentencing errors. This court specifically noted that it did so to accomplish two purposes, allowing for the correction of sentencing errors at the earliest opportunity and "giv[ing] defendants a means to preserve these errors for appellate review." Id. at 1016. It went on to refer to the procedure the rule authorizes as a "procedural mechanism through which defendants may present their sentencing errors to the trial court and thereby preserve them for appellate review." Id. at 1017-1018. It then discussed the impact of allowing motions to be filed while appeals are pending (and of depriving trial courts of the authority under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a) to act on motions to correct illegal sentences during that time), stating:

[T]he amended rule is intended to provide one mechanism whereby all sentencing errors may be preserved for appellate review. ... The amendment to rule 3.800(a) will make it clear that a rule 3.800(b) motion can be used to correct any type of sentencing error, whether we had formerly called that error erroneous, unlawful, or illegal.

761 So. 2d at 1019.

In concluding, this court additionally noted that "these amendments will help preserve the public trust and confidence in the judicial process that might be undermined if defendants are not provided with a meaningful mechanism in which to correct and preserve for appellate review sentencing errors." *Id.* at 1020.

Also recognizing the rationale behind Rule 3.800(b) was the decision in *Davis v. State*, 868 So. 2d 647, 649 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004), *quashed on other grounds*, 887 So. 2d 1286 (Fla. 2004), in which the Fifth District Court of Appeal noted that "a principal objective of this rule is to allow a defendant to preserve an otherwise unpreserved error."

Despite this line of authority, the Third District Court of Appeal in the present case found that assertions that error occurred because juries did not make the constitutionally required findings necessary to support habitual offender sentencing, as required by Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296 (2004), cannot be raised in a motion to correct sentencing error. Luton v. State, 934 So. 2d 7, 10 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006). It did so despite the fact that the state never asserted that position, not even in its response filed after the district court's initial opinion finding the error to be unpreserved.

The district court gave no reason for its determination, instead simply stating that its belief that Mr. Luton did not timely raise the issue and that "logically" a defendant must raise the issue before sentencing. *Id*. For each of several

reasons, it should be concluded that the district court erred in reaching its conclusion. $^4$ 

In the first place, as is obvious from the above discussion, this court has consistently and repeatedly indicated that a primary purpose of a motion to correct sentencing error is to allow a defendant to preserve a sentencing issue, and it has made clear that Rule 3.800(b) applies to all sentencing errors and can be used to correct any type of sentencing error. Amendments IV, 761 So. 2d at 1019. Thus, the decision under review is inconsistent with binding precedent from this court.

Second, departing from the established approach by carving out an exception for one type of issue, unless done in a rule amendment and applicable only to cases arising thereafter, would be terribly unfair. The bar has accepted and relied upon the system established by the above authorities. Trial lawyers understandably approach cases with the assumption that they will not have to preserve sentencing errors and appellate attorneys accept the responsibility for asserting such claims. Indeed, this court envisioned exactly such a division of responsibility, noting in Amendments IV that "trial counsel have come to rely upon appellate counsel to detect these [sentencing] errors and raise them on appeal," 761 So. 2d at 1017, and pointing out that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This "issue involves the interpretation of the Court's rules and is a question of law subject to de novo review." Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. v. Reid, 930 So. 2d 598, 599 (Fla. 2006).

"an advantage of this amendment is that it will give appellate counsel, with expertise in detecting sentencing errors, the opportunity to identify any sentencing errors and a method to correct these errors and preserve them for appeal." Id. at 1018.

Thus, to determine by a decision in one particular appeal that this burden should be returned to trial attorneys for one particular type of error is to leave defendants, such as Mr. Luton, whose attorneys relied on the plain wording of the rule, which includes no exceptions, and the indications by this court, which indicate that there are none, with no remedies. Mr. Luton suggests that if there are reasons for a different approach to be taken with regard to the type of error involved here, a proposal should be made to change the rule, so that it can be fully and properly considered, and so that, if a change is made, the trial attorneys of this state will be made aware

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This consideration would seem to be of particular significance in the present case because the decision on which the Mr. Luton's motion to correct sentencing error was not issued until after he was sentenced and his case was already on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Accentuating the unfairness of the Third District's approach is the fact that decision under review not only places the burden of raising the issue on trial attorneys, but it requires those attorneys to do so, not at sentencing, but "prior to the sentencing hearing." 794 So. 2d at 10. Thus, the district court has turned the contemporaneous objection rule into an anticipatory objection rule. Even trial attorneys who may have made Blakely objections are unlikely to have made them prior to the sentencing hearings, so it unlikely that any defendant sentenced before the district court decision in this case will have preserved any Blakely claim he or she might have.

that they are being given a new responsibility. Until and unless such a rule change is made, defendants in the situation Mr. Luton finds himself should have the right to avail themselves of the existing process.

Third, the Third District's decision in the present case is inconsistent with the approach taken by the other district courts of appeal. As noted above, the Fifth District has expressed sentiments similar to those of this court with regard to the purpose of motions to correct sentencing error. Moreover, the appellate courts have consistently considered Blakely issues in cases in which they were first raised after sentencing in either a motion to correct sentencing error or a motion to correct illegal sentence. See, e.g., Morrow v. State, \_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D466 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Feb. 13, 2006); Glennon v. State, 937 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006); Langford v. State, 929 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006); Coggins v. State, 921 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); Richardson v. State, 915 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Williams v. State, 907 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005). In Sheffield v. State, 903 So. 2d 1009 (Fla.  $4^{th}$  DCA 2005), the court even considered a <code>Blakely</code> claim in reviewing the denial of Rule 3.800 motion to correct illegal sentence that challenged, as here, a habitual offender sentence. Cf. Edison v. State, 848 So. 2d 498, 499 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) (not dealing with a Blakely issue, but reviewing a challenge to a habitual offender sentence and stating, "Although Edison did not object to his HFO sentence during sentencing, he has preserved the issue for review by filing a motion to correct sentencing error pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b)(2).").

Fourth, the approach taken by the Third District here is also inconsistent with other decisions of that same court, which has repeatedly upheld the denial of postconviction motions raising Blakely challenges, concluding that Blakely is not retroactive. See, e.g., Nino v. State, 937 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006); Fernandez v. State, 910 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); Clark v. State, 903 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); Jerome v. State, 891 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005). Inherent in the fact that the court reached the retroactivity question is the fact that the issue was preserved through the motion under review.

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