IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1800

WILLIE EARL LUTON,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General

LINDA S. KATZ Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0672378

RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (305) 377-5655 (fax)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Defendant has failed to properly preserve the claim that, pursuant to Blakely, the determinations for his habitual violent felony offender sentence should have been decided by the jury, instead of the trial judge. In order to raise the claim on direct appeal, Defendant was required to request a jury trial on sentencing or pose a proper objection to the trial judge sitting as the trier of fact on sentencing. Either notification would required to be made before the sentencing proceeding. be Defendant acknowledges that he failed to do so. To effectively preserve the issue, the Defendant had to notify the trial court while the guilt phase jury was still empanelled. Defendant failed to do so. Instead, he claims that his rule 3.800(b)(2) motion preserved the issue. Because Defendant's claim implicates the guilt phase jury, the matter is no longer within the realm of a sentencing error. Thus, a rule 3.800(b)(2) motion would not adequately preserve the issue.

B. Even if Defendant's claim was a sentencing issue which could be preserved by way of a rule 3.800(b)(2) motion, Defendant's motion still would not have effectively preserved the issue, because it was not timely filed. Defendant acknowledges that he did not request a jury trial on sentencing or object prior to sentencing to the trial judge sitting as the

trier of fact on habitual sentencing factors. Instead, Defendant filed a 3.800(b)(2) motion, but it was untimely. The governing rule expressly states that such motion must be filed prior to Defendant serving his initial brief. Defendant's motion was not filed until days after the service of his brief. Thus, Defendant's claim could not be preserved based on Defendant's argument.

C. Defendant's <u>Blakely</u> claim does not constitute fundamental error. Thus, it must be preserved for appellate review.

D. Aside from the procedural bar to this issue, this claim has no merit. The trial court's determination of whether Defendant committed the current offense within five years after incarceration on the qualifying offense, whether Defendant received a pardon on the qualifying offense, or whether a conviction on the qualifying offense was set aside in a postconviction proceeding was proper. Such determinations are not in violation of <u>Blakely</u> because they are all derivative of the prior conviction. Thus, they fall under <u>Apprendi</u>'s prior conviction exception.

E. Lastly, any claimed error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, as the validity of the HVFO sentencing factors which were determined by the trial court was undisputed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT DENYING DEFENDANT'S ERR IN BLAKELY ISSUE REGARDING JURY FINDINGS FOR SENTENCING AS A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFFENDER WHERE IT WAS NOT PRESERVED BY REQUESTING A JURY TRIAL ON SENTENCING OR BY OBJECTING TO THE TRIAL SITTING AS TRIER OF FACT COURT THE FOR HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCING DETERMINATIONS AND WAS WITHOUT MERIT.

A: CLAIMED ERROR IS NOT A SENTENCING ERROR

Defendant argues that the Third District Court of Appeal erred in finding that his <u>Blakely</u>¹ claim, as asserted in his 3.800(b)(2) motion to correct sentencing error, was not preserved for appellate review due to his failure to raise an objection prior to sentencing. Defendant characterizes the appellate court's opinion below as creating a more restrictive procedure for appealing Habitual Violent Felony Offender ("HVFO") sentencing errors based on a lack of jury findings because it precludes preservation for direct review by way of 3.800(b)(2) motion, and only allows for review where a request for a jury trial on sentencing or an objection to the trial court sitting as the trier of fact for habitualization determinations was made *prior* to the sentencing proceeding. Defendant's argument is without merit.

¹ <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

Although Apprendi and Blakely are related to sentencing questions, the request for a jury determination needs to be made prior to sentencing for multiple reasons. First, once the jury determining quilt is discharged, any assertion of the right to a jury determination of sentencing facts would then necessitate the empanelling of a second jury, after prolonged jury selection, for a brief presentation and determination regarding facts related to prior convictions, release dates, the absence of any pardon and the absence of any overturning of those convictions. While the guilt phase jury most likely should not hear such matters during deliberations as to guilt or innocence, as such matters could prejudice the defendant at that stage, such matters could, if necessary, be heard through a bifurcated proceeding, immediately following jury selection, and prior to the discharge of the jury. Any contrary procedure places a tremendous additional burden and tremendous additional cost on the judicial system, as it necessitates a second jury selection process and the empanelling of a second jury for a very limited purpose.

Accordingly, this is not a mere sentencing issue under Rule 3.800(b)(2); it is an issue which implicates the jury which determined guilt and the issue is therefore one which requires preservation by a timely objection or request for a jury

determination.² Rule 3.800(b)(2) should not be utilized in a manner that circumvents such preservation requirements.

Thus, the Third District's opinion correctly holds that such request for a jury trial on sentencing or objection to the judge determining the pertinent HVFO sentencing facts had to be raised prior to the sentencing proceedings in order to preserve the error for direct appeal. As Defendant does not dispute that this was not done, the issue was not preserved for direct appeal.

B: DEFENDANT'S 3.800(b)(2) MOTION WAS UNTIMELY

Although the State maintains that the claim raised by Defendant is not a sentencing error, even if it was a sentencing error it would not be properly preserved by Defendant's rule 3.800(b)(2) motion. Defendant stated that the purpose of the amended version of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(b) was to provide defendants with the opportunity to raise sentencing errors on appeal. <u>Amendments to Fla. Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.090(g)</u> and Fla. Rule of Crim. Procedure 3.800, 675 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 1996); <u>Amendments to Fla. Rule of Crim.Procedure 3.800</u>, 685 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1996); <u>Amendments to Fla. Rules of Crim.</u> Procedure 3.111(e) and 3.800 and Fla. Rules of Appellate

 $^{^{2}}$ As noted in section D of this brief, a jury determination at all and the preservation issue is purely academic.

<u>Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, and 9.600</u>, 761 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 1999); <u>Amendments to Fla. Rules of Crim. Procedure 3.111(e) &</u> <u>3.800 & Fla. Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, &</u> <u>9.600</u>, 761 So. 2d 1015, 1017-18 (Fla. 2000) (hereinafter Amendments II). The objective of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(b) was to allow a defendant to preserve an otherwise unpreserved sentencing error. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 868 So.2d 647 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) quashed on other grounds, 887 So.2d 1286 (Fla. 2004).

As of January 2000, appellate counsel have had the procedures set forth in rule 3.800(b)(2) available to ensure that sentencing issues are properly preserved before they are presented to the appellate court. Rydberg v. State, 891 So.2d 572 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004). Defendant cites to several cases for the proposition that, in the absence of an objection at sentencing, a 3.800(b)(2) motion will suffice to preserve an otherwise un-preserved error. However, throughout his entire brief, Defendant failed to acknowledge that his 3.800(b)(2)motion was not properly filed, as it was not served before Defendant served his first brief. Instead, Defendant's recitation of the facts vaguely represents that he filed a motion to correct sentencing error "[w]hile his appeal was pending." (Page 1 of Defendant's Brief On The Merits). The fact that the opinion in Blakely was not issued until the day after

he filed his initial brief has no bearing on the untimely filing of the motion for purposes of preservation.³

Defendant appears to overlook the fact that 3.800(b) is a rule of *procedure*. Accordingly, the rule expressly mandates how and when the motion is to be filed. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b)(2) provides as follows:

(2) Motion Pending Appeal. --If an appeal is pending, a defendant or the State may file in the trial court a motion to correct a sentencing error. The motion may be filed by appellate counsel and **must be served before the party's first brief is served**. A notice of pending motion to correct sentencing error shall be filed in the appellate court, which notice automatically shall extend the time for the filing of the brief until 10 days after the clerk of circuit court transmits the supplemental record under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(f)(6).

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800. (Emphasis added).

In its opinion in <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 89 (Fla. 2000), the Court reaffirmed that in cases in which the initial

Mitchell v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 521, 530 n.8 (Fla. 2001) (recognizing that the "pipeline" theory allows a defendant to seek application of a new rule of law if the case is pending on direct review or not yet final and the defendant timely objected in the trial court if an objection was necessary to preserve the issue for appellate review); Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1066 (Fla. 1992). In Evans v. State, 946 So. 2d 1, 15-16 (Fla. 2006), rehearing denied, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 3043 (Fla. 2006), Evans argued that Florida's death penalty statute, as applied to him, was unconstitutional pursuant to Apprendi and Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428, 153 L. Ed. 2d 556 (2002). Although Evans' direct appeal was in the "pipeline" when Ring was decided in 2002, the Court held that the claim was procedurally barred because Evans did not preserve the claim by challenging the constitutionality of Florida's sentencing scheme both at trial and on direct appeal.

brief is filed after the effective date of Amendments II, a defendant is required to have objected at sentencing or utilize rule 3.800(b) to preserve all sentencing errors, including fundamental sentencing errors, for appeal. The only case law which has permitted an exception to the rule 3.800(b)(2)requirement that the motion be filed before the initial brief has occurred in cases where appellate counsel's initial brief was filed pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 18 L. Ed. 2d 493, 87 S. Ct. 1396 (1967)) and the appellate court subsequently issues an order allowing a defendant to file a pro se initial brief. In Anders cases in which the defendant has been given the opportunity to file a pro se brief, it is the pro se brief, and not the Anders brief, which is considered the "party's first brief" for purposes of rule 3.800(b)(2). Proctor v. State, 901 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), Lopez v. State, 905 So.2d 1045, 1047 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005).

In addition to the above district court cases, the only time that this Court permitted review of an issue where the 3.800(b)(2) motion was filed after the initial brief was in <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 848 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 2003) which involved a <u>Heggs⁴</u> challenge. The Court held that the defendant's filing of a rule 3.800(b)(2) motion prior to the filing of the initial brief would have been futile because at that time the trial court

⁴ <u>Heggs v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000).

would have been required to deny the motion pursuant to the then controlling First District precedent which upheld the sentencing law. The law was subsequently declared invalid by <u>Heggs</u> for being in violation of the single-subject requirement.

However, rule 9.140(e) provides that "[a] sentencing error may not be raised on appeal unless the alleged error has first been brought to the attention of the lower tribunal: (1) at the time of sentencing; or (2) by motion pursuant to [rule] 3.800(b). Thus, subsequent to Harvey, the Court held in Brannon v. State, 850 So.2d 452, 456 (Fla. 2003), that the failure to preserve a fundamental sentencing error by a rule 3.800(b) motion or by objection during the sentencing hearing forecloses a defendant from raising the error on direct appeal. Thus, the Court deemed Harvey to be an exception which applied only to a facial challenge to the constitutionality of a sentencing statute that, at the time the initial appellate brief was filed, had not been declared unconstitutional in any appellate decision binding on the trial court. Id. at 458. Clearly, no such exception applies to the case at bar.

Defendant has not acknowledged that his 3.800(b)(2) was untimely and thus could not have preserved the issue for direct appeal. Instead, in furtherance of his preservation argument, Defendant also argues that the opinion unduly burdens trial counsel with the responsibility of having to pose such

objections at trial. Clearly, the Third District is well aware of, and respectful of, the purpose of rule 3.800(b)(2). The Third District's opinion in James v. State, 932 So.2d 431, 433 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2006), which was issued subsequent to Luton, quoted this Court's opinion in Brannon as authority for the principle that rule 3.800(b)(2) provides a reliable mechanism to preserve sentencing errors for appellate review. The Third District specifically quoted the Court by stating that the rule gives "appellate counsel, with expertise in detecting sentencing error, the opportunity to identify any sentencing errors and a method to correct these errors and preserve them for appeal." Brannon, 850 So.2d at 455. However, as argued in section "A" of this brief, because the claim is outside the realm of a true sentencing error the only way it can effectively be preserved is by the appropriate jury request or objection by trial counsel prior to sentencing.

Nevertheless, even if this was a sentencing error, due to Defendant's conceded lack of any objection whatsoever at trial, and the established untimeliness of his motion, the issue was not preserved for direct review.

C: THE ISSUE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

In the alternative, Defendant argues that even if the issue was not preserved, it should be considered as fundamental error.

Defendant acknowledges that in holding that an <u>Apprendi</u> claim must be preserved for appellate review, this Court in <u>McGregor</u> rejected the argument that such a claim constitutes fundamental error. However, Defendant goes on to argue that because <u>McGregor</u> was decided prior to <u>Blakely</u>, this Court should reconsider the issue in light of <u>Blakely</u>. There is no need to do so. <u>Blakely</u> merely clarified <u>Apprendi</u>. The only difference between <u>Apprendi</u> and <u>Blakely</u> is that <u>Apprendi</u> was construed as applying only to sentences that exceed the statutory maximum and <u>Blakely</u> applies to sentences that exceed the guideline caps. Accordingly, there is no reason for <u>McGregor</u> to be reinterpreted in light of Blakely.

Moreover, in <u>United States v. Dowling</u>, 403 F.3d 1242, 1246 (11th Cir.), cert denied, 126 S. Ct. 462, 163 L. Ed. 2d 351 (2005) the Eleventh Circuit held that in order to preserve error under <u>Apprendi/Blakely/Booker</u>, a defendant must object with reference to the Sixth Amendment or the <u>Apprendi</u> line of cases or must challenge "the role of the judge as fact-finder with respect to sentencing facts. Clearly, <u>Apprendi</u> and it progeny are all considered similarly for the purpose of requiring preservation.

As pointed out by this Court in <u>Hughes</u>, the First District stated, "If an <u>Apprendi</u> violation can be harmless, it is difficult to logically conclude that the purpose behind the

change of law in <u>Apprendi</u> is fundamentally significant." <u>Hughes</u>, 826 So. 2d at 1074. <u>Hughes v. State</u>, 901 So. 2d 837, 844 (Fla. 2005); <u>Washington v. Recuenco</u>, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006). Therefore, the <u>Blakely</u> claim does not constitute a fundamental error. Clearly, it is not enough for the subject case to have been pending on appeal when <u>Blakely</u> was decided in order for it to be in the pipeline and have <u>Blakely</u> apply to its appeal. Instead, the issue had to be properly raised at trial, as delineated herein, and on direct appeal. As Defendant has failed to preserve the issue at trial due to his failure to timely request a jury trial on sentencing, raise an objection to the trial court determining HVFO sentencing facts or timely file a motion (if the issue is deemed to be a sentencing issue), the issue cannot be raised on direct appeal.

D: LACK OF MERIT

Moreover, the issue of preservation is academic and futile to Defendant's case, as it is without merit. As was reiterated by the Court in Hughes v. State, 901 So. 2d 837 (Fla. 2005):

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